

July 31, 2017

Mr. Ed Gresser Chair of the Trade Policy Staff Committee Office of the United States Trade Representative 600 17th Street N.W. Washington, DC 20508

RE: Comments in Response to Executive Order Regarding Trade Agreements Violations and Abuses.

Dear Mr. Gresser:

I write in response to your Federal Register Notice requesting public comments regarding the administration's performance review of U.S. trade agreements.

The following written submission draws on previous reports published by the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation—the top-ranked science- and technology-policy think tank in the United States—including its expertise and previous work on a range of trade- and innovation-related issues.

Sincerely,

Nigel Cory

Trade Policy Analyst, The Information Technology and Innovation Foundation

# **CONTENTS**

Introduction	3
The Nature of U.S. Innovation Industries.	4
Market Conditions Needed to Maximize Innovation	5
China	6
Targeting and Undermining Foreign Intellectual Property	9
The Use of Anti-Monopoly Laws to Target Intellectual Property	11
Failing to Live Up to Commitments on Government Procurement	11
Discriminatory Laws and Regulations	12
Discriminatory Cybersecurity Policies	12
Discriminatory Technology Standards	14
Ongoing Use of Production and Export Subsidies	15
Weak to Non-Existent Transparency and Reporting of Trade Policies	16
Restrictive Market Access for Cloud Computing and Telecommunication Services	17
China's Non-Market Economy Status	19
Central and South America	19
Colombia	20
Costa Rica	20
Guatemala	21
Honduras	21
Nicaragua	21
Panama	21
Peru	21
South Korea – Stopping or Making it Hard to Transfer Data	22
Vietnam – Restrictions on Over-the-Top Services	
Endnotes	26

### INTRODUCTION

International trade is a crucial enabler for innovative sectors at the heart of U.S. economic competitiveness, including renewable energy, aerospace, life sciences, semiconductors, information communications technology (ICT), and digital content. Trade agreements provide the market access and rules that allow firms in these sectors to maximize their potential to innovate, and in doing so, help drive further improvements in U.S. consumer welfare and standards of living. However, the U.S. government needs to ensure that all counterparties to U.S. trade agreements live up to the commitments they made in signing them.

The U.S. Trade Representative's (USTR's) investigation into U.S. trade agreements is a welcome review of the status of U.S. trade agreements, the policies of its trading partners, and whether they're living up to their side of the agreement. Most U.S. trade partners generally play by the rules. However, as this submission outlines, some U.S. trade partners have violated, abused, and/or discriminated against U.S. firms and their goods and services in contravention of bilateral/regional trade agreements with the United States or in joining the multilateral trading system under the World Trade Organization (WTO). On the latter, China stands out for the way it has systemically broken, ignored, and/or gamed the world trading system to advance its own development, to the detriment of many sectors of the U.S. economy. These unfair trade policies deserve greater scrutiny and action by the U.S. government.

America's most-innovative sectors deserve to be a central factor in USTR's investigation as they drive long-term economic growth. The U.S. Department of Commerce reported in 2010 that technological innovation can be linked to three-quarters of the United States' growth rate since the end of World War II.<sup>†</sup> Technological innovation shapes the entire U.S. economy, as the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (ITIF) reports in "High-Tech Nation: How Technological Innovation Shapes America's 435 Congressional Districts." The U.S. economy is extremely diverse, and different regions specialize in different products and services, but all industries have an opportunity to capitalize on technological innovation to increase their productivity and competitiveness. The role of U.S. trade policy should be to support these firms by ensuring they have clear and fair access to foreign markets.

America's innovative industries are among the country's most dynamic and impactful. One recent study found that America's 50 most-advanced industries (in terms of having the highest research and development (R&D) intensities and highest share of STEM [science, technology, engineering, and mathematics] workers) accounted for 17 percent of U.S. GDP and employed 9 percent of workers. Moreover, those 50 industries employed 80 percent of the nation's engineers; performed 90 percent of private-sector R&D; generated approximately 85 percent of all U.S. patents; and accounted for 60 percent of U.S. exports. America's innovation-based, high-tech industries are a vital driver of the country's traded-sector competitiveness and a key provider of high-wage, high-value-added jobs. Protecting the ability of these sectors to compete fairly on global markets by enforcing trade commitments America's trade partners have made in multilateral, plurilateral, and bilateral trade commitments should be a paramount objective of the Trump administration's trade policy.

## The Nature of U.S. Innovation Industries

Around the world, countries are competing for market share in high-wage, innovation-based industries. Unfortunately, as this global race for innovation advantage intensifies, many countries have turned to "innovation mercantilism"—a strategy that seeks prosperity by imposing protectionist and trade-distorting policies that tip market scales to expand domestic technology production.

These destructive, "beggar-thy-neighbor" tactics—such as forcing companies to transfer the rights to their technology or relocate their production, research and development (R&D), or data-storage activities—are intended to either replace imports with domestic production or to unfairly promote exports. Countries increasingly are using such innovation mercantilist policies in high-value tech sectors such as life sciences, renewable energy, computers and electronics, and Internet services. To understand how countries can enact policies that detract from U.S. innovation, it's important to understand the nature of innovation industries and market settings that are needed to maximize innovation.

True innovation industries share four key characteristics in common. First, innovation—the regular development of new products and processes—is central to their competitive success. While all industries, even "traditional" ones, innovate to some extent, true innovation industries are ones where the rapid and regular development of new processes, products, or services—many of them disruptive in nature—is critical to their competitive advantage. For example, biotechnology and semiconductors are innovation industries, as their success depends not on making the current product marginally cheaper, but on inventing the next-generation drug or semiconductor.

A second key characteristic of innovation-based industries is that their marginal costs significantly exceed their average costs. The software industry provides the most extreme example of this. It can cost hundreds of millions of dollars to produce the first copy, but additional software can be produced at virtually no cost. Likewise, the cost to develop a new prescription medicine that gained marketing approval in 2013 reached \$2.6 billion. Additional post-approval R&D costs of more than \$300 million "boost the full product life cycle cost per approved drug" to close to \$3 billion. However, incremental copies of the initial medicine (one more pill off the production line) can be produced at cost. Similarly, it took Boeing almost eight years of development work and more than \$15 billion before a single 787 Dreamliner was sold. Total 787 Dreamliner costs have now reached \$32 billion. That \$32 billion gets built into the cost of every 787. Economists describe such industries as experiencing increasing returns to scale, but not all industries share this characteristic. For example, a study of more than 1,000 European companies found increasing returns to scale for high-tech firms, but decreasing returns to scale for low-tech ones. The content of the cost of the production of the cost of the cost of the cost of the cost of every 787.

Third, innovation industries depend more than other industries on intellectual property (IP), both scienceand technology-based IP but also the IP embodied in creative works. For example, software depends on source code; content creators depend on copyrights to protect their work from expropriation; life sciences firms depend on discoveries related to molecular compounds; and aerospace depends upon materials and device discoveries. The challenge, of course, is that intangible capital assets, such as IP, are more easily appropriable than tangible capital assets.

Finally, precisely because innovation industries are so knowledge intensive, they depend upon the unfettered movement of knowledge, information, and data across borders. That is because creating value in the modern economy increasingly depends upon generating actionable insights from data. For example, 50 percent of global services trade depends on underlying data flows.

These four factors that characterize an industry as an innovation industry—constant innovation, high fixed costs relative to marginal costs, dependence on IP, and dependence on information—have significant ties to globalization and trade, and therefore, to the policies that trading partners enact as part of trade agreements with the United States or as part of the WTO.

### **Market Conditions Needed to Maximize Innovation**

Assessing the impact of trading partners' trade and economic policies on U.S. innovation also requires an analysis of the three factors that innovation industries depend on to maximize innovation through international trade:

- 1. Ensuring the largest possible markets. Firms in many innovation-intensive industries are global because they require scale. For innovation industries with high fixed costs of design and development but relatively low marginal costs of production, larger markets better enable them to cover those fixed costs, so that unit costs can be lower, and revenues for reinvestment in innovation higher. Higher sales allow more revenue to be invested back into generating more innovation. Therefore, trade barriers—such as high tariffs, localization barriers to trade, or restrictions on the ability of service enterprises to compete across international borders—limit scale economies at both the firm and establishment level (a firm being comprised of multiple establishments). Barriers that limit market access by foreign firms—in favor of domestic firms—raise global innovation costs by enabling more firms than necessary.
- 2. Limiting nonmarket-based competition. Large markets enable firms to sell more. But if larger markets come with more competitors, total sales per firm can remain the same or even fall. But isn't this competition good for innovation? In fact, many studies have shown that innovation and competition can be modeled according to an inverted "U" relation, with both too much and too little competition producing less innovation. One study of U.K. manufacturing firms found this relationship.\* Others, including Scherer and Mukoyama, have found similar patterns.\*i In a study of U.S. manufacturing firms, Hashmi found that too much competition led to reduced innovation in a slightly negative relationship.\*ii Normally, markets will not produce an excess number of competitors. But governments often do—through financial bailouts, discriminatory government procurement, or other policies favoring weaker domestic firms. These policies let weak firms remain in the market, drawing sales from stronger firms and reducing their ability to reinvest in innovation.

3. Ensuring strong IP protections. Firms in innovation-based industries depend on intangible capital, much of it embodied in IP. Strong IP rights spur innovative activity by increasing the appropriability of the returns to innovation, enabling innovators to capture more of the benefits of their own innovative activity. By raising the private rate of return closer to the social rate of return, intellectual property addresses the knowledge-asset incentive problem, allowing inventors to realize economic gain from their inventions, thereby catalyzing economic growth. In addition, as they capture a larger portion of the benefits of their innovative activity, innovating companies obtain the resources to pursue the next generation of innovative activities. However, if competitors can enter and/or remain in the market because they obtain an innovator's IP at less than the fair market price (either through theft or coerced transfer), they are able to siphon sales that would otherwise go to innovators.

All three factors get to the core challenge for innovation industries: Investment in innovation is uncertain, and therefore higher than normal profits on those innovations that succeed are necessary. Because innovation is about risk and uncertainty, failure is common; for every Apple succeeding with an iPad, there are many IT companies that fail. Moreover, innovation industries face not just loss of market share from competition, but loss of existence. This reality evokes Schumpeter's dictum that "every piece of business strategy must be understood against the perennial gale of creative destruction." Innovation industries depend on so-called "Schumpeterian profits"—the profits that arise when firms are able to appropriate the returns from innovative activity. For if firms are assured at best only normal returns on successful innovation, none would undertake the enormous risk of investing in it. Moreover, because innovation is so expensive, higher returns endow companies with the capital to invest more in R&D and other innovation-based activities, perpetuating a virtuous cycle of innovation.

#### **CHINA**

Now more than 15 years after China joined the WTO in 2001, the vision of China embracing a rules-governed, market-based global trade system has yet to materialize. To be sure, China did reform thousands of domestic laws and has complied with many of its WTO commitments—such as joining the Information Technology Agreement (ITA) and reducing average tariffs on industrial products. But all too often, one step forward has been met with two steps backward, as China has erected new, often behind-the-border non-tariff barriers (NTBs) to more than compensate for concessions elsewhere. To be clear, a China that participates in the global trading system while abiding by the rules and norms of the WTO system is a positive for the global economy. However, a China that uses the WTO as a shield to protect its innovation mercantilist policies is not.

China's innovation mercantilism stands in stark contrast to the picture painted by many officials when China joined the WTO. For instance, Mike Moore, the WTO's director-general in 2001, gushed that "China's decision to join the WTO is momentous. Committing itself to WTO rules will entrench market-based reform and strengthen the rule of law. ... China's opaque and arbitrary trade and investment rules will

become transparent, stable, and more predictable."xiv Moore assuaged those concerned China might not live up to its commitments, intoning that, "A more open China brings benefits for everybody. ... China knows it has to stick to its WTO commitments. If it doesn't, the U.S. or any other WTO member government can use the organization's dispute-settlement procedures to ensure it does."xv For its part, the WTO itself stated:

China has agreed to undertake a series of important commitments to open and liberalize its regime in order to better integrate into the world economy and offer a more predictable environment for trade and foreign investment in accordance with WTO rules.<sup>xvi</sup>

Yet the reality is that China's aggressive innovation mercantilism has only grown stronger in recent years, as China seeks absolute advantage across an ever-wider range of advanced-technology industries. In fact, as a recent *The Economist* article noted, even Long Yongtu, who as China's chief trade negotiator in 2001 helped the country win WTO admission, has admitted that China is now moving further away from the organization's principles. As *The Economist* writes, "to modernize its economy, China has remained wedded to industrial policies, state-owned enterprises, and a 'techno-nationalism' that protects and promotes homegrown technologies." "xvii

The seminal document outlining China's pursuit of absolute advantage in many high-tech sectors (and particularly ones in which U.S. firms have long been global leaders) was the "National Medium- and Long-Term Program for Science and Technology Development (2006-2020)," the so-called "MLP." The MLP outlined China's plan to master 402 core technologies, everything from intelligent automobiles to semiconductors and high-performance computers. The MLP essentially announced that modern Chinese economic strategy sought *absolute advantage* across virtually all advanced industries. It fundamentally rejected the notion of *comparative advantage*—which holds that nations should specialize in the production of products or services at which they are the most efficient and trade for the rest. Instead, China's goal today is to dominate in production of both advanced-technology products such as airplanes, semiconductors, computers, pharmaceuticals, *and* commodity manufacturing.

Ultimately, Chinese policymakers wish to autarkically supply Chinese markets for advanced-technology goods and services with their own production while still benefitting from unfettered access to global markets for their technology exports and foreign investment, the latter designed to acquire and integrate into Chinese firms' know-how, often based on foreign technology. The MLP has been reinforced and expanded through other strategies, such as China's "Made in China 2025" plan. As the Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) in Germany writes in its report, "Made in China 2025: The Making of a High-Tech Superpower and Consequences for Industrial Countries," "Made in China 2025 in its current form [means that] China's leadership systematically intervenes in domestic markets so as to benefit and facilitate the economic dominance of Chinese enterprises and to disadvantage foreign competitors." "xviii This is diametrically opposed to the fundamental principles that underpin the multilateral trading system embodied in the WTO.

As the ITIF has documented across a series of reports—including "False Promises: The Yawning Gap Between China's WTO Commitments and Practices," "The Worst Innovation Mercantilist Policies of 2016," "Stopping China's Mercantilism: A Doctrine of Constructive, Alliance-Backed Confrontation," and most recently in testimony before the congressionally chartered U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission on Chinese investment in the United States—China has deployed a vast panoply of innovation mercantilist practices that seek to unfairly advantage Chinese producers over foreign competitors.\*

As this submission outlines, these practices have included forced IP and technology transfer or forced local production as a condition of market access; theft of foreign IP; curtailment and even outright denial of access to Chinese markets in certain sectors; manipulation of technology standards; special benefits for state-owned enterprises (SOEs); and capricious cases designed to force foreign companies to license technology at a discount.

One of the challenges is that many of China's policies violate the spirit, if not always the letter, of trade rules the country agreed to uphold in joining the WTO. In response, America often pushes back bilaterally rather than by initiating a trade dispute at the WTO. A contributing factor to the lack of more cases is that U.S. companies face the real threat of retaliation from the Chinese government if they provide evidence against it in a trade case. Nevertheless, USTR should bring forth more cases, whether industry supports them or not (assuming the facts can be adequately developed). In particular, USTR should be more aggressive in initiating trade disputes, or using the threat of disputes, to change China's behavior.

Put simply, the United States needs to take a more assertive lead in defending, promoting, and building upon the open and rules-based global trading system. It must lead determined efforts to contain and roll back Chinese mercantilism and enroll like-minded countries in that task. Our allies may follow, but they will not act without U.S. leadership. The reality is that the United States is the leading representative of a community of nations that have chosen market-led capitalism over state-led capitalism, and so it bears particular responsibility for containing and rolling back Chinese mercantilism, thus encouraging other nations to choose a more rules-based approach to trade and investment.

Rolling back Chinese innovation mercantilism will be vital for the competitiveness of both the U.S. economy and U.S. enterprises, particularly those in advanced industries. U.S. enterprises across virtually all manufacturing sectors and every advanced-technology sector—from aerospace and biotechnology to ICT products, Internet, digital media, and clean energy—have been harmed by China's aggressive use of innovation mercantilist policies. Moreover, China's policies have inflicted considerable harm upon the U.S. economy, its exports, and employment.

Achieving real change in China will not be easy. China's unique economic system is at the heart of the challenge facing the United States and the international community's efforts to painstakingly set up (and defend) a market- and rules-based trading system. China is unique due to the interaction of several factors,

but especially the Communist Party's central role in governing the economy, including many parts of the private sector, as well as the lack of transparency and rule of law.\*\* China's unique approach was neither fully appreciated nor accounted for by negotiators at the time of China's WTO accession.\*\* Since accession, China has not converged (as negotiators hoped) toward an economic model of the type which the WTO was built to accommodate. This mismatch has become much clearer now that China has grown into a major player in the global economy yet still unabashedly uses its unique system to manipulate loopholes in the system. It is becoming even clearer now that a special, time-limited "nonmarket economy" WTO accession provision, which was supposed to provide time for an economic transition, has run out without China's transition to a market economy occurring. This clash of systems requires the United States and other major economies to confront head on—and beyond mere WTO litigation—the challenge that China's actions pose to their individual trading relationships and to the trading system as a whole.

As part of this, the United States should not rush into negotiating a new Bilateral Investment Treaty (BIT) with China without getting China to fully abide by its prior WTO commitments. China is already obliged under existing WTO commitments to address many issues that a potential BIT would contemplate, such as those that prohibit forced technology transfers as a condition of market access, yet China has made extensive use of such policies in a variety of sectors. China needs to fundamentally recommit to the rules of the international trading system and abide by the letter and the spirit of the rules, lest the United States again allow China to benefit from international trade rules without having to abide by them.

## **Targeting and Undermining Foreign Intellectual Property**

Intellectual property issues remain a major issue for U.S. companies operating in China. China is a regular designee on the U.S. Trade Representative's Priority Watch List of worst offenders in terms of IP protection and enforcement.\*\* In addition, in December 2016, USTR announced the results of its 2016 Out-of-Cycle Review of Notorious Markets, which identified online and physical markets that exemplify key challenges in the global struggle against piracy and counterfeiting. Several Chinese markets were among those named as notorious markets.

Although China's WTO accession agreement contains rules forbidding the country from tying foreign direct investment or market access to requirements to transfer technology to the country, it remains commonplace to require that firms transfer technology in exchange for being granted the ability to invest, operate, or sell in China.xxiii This despite the fact that in the November 2001 Report of the Working Party on the Accession of China to the WTO, "The representative of China confirmed that China would only impose, apply or enforce laws, regulations or measures relating to the transfer of technology, production processes, or other proprietary knowledge to an individual or enterprise in its territory that were not inconsistent with the WTO Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement) and the Agreement on Trade-Related Investment Measures (TRIMs Agreement)."xxxiv

Nevertheless, USTR annual reports to Congress on China's WTO compliance continue to highlight its use of such discriminatory practices. Unfortunately, this shouldn't be a surprise, as China has explicitly outlined aims for domestic production in many sectors, including through forced joint ventures (JVs) and tech-transfer provisions, as part of its "Made in China 2025" strategic plan.xxx As Harvard Business School professors Thomas Hout and Pankaj Ghemawat document in their report *China vs the World: Whose Technology Is It?*, Chinese technology transfer requirements as a condition of market access have affected scores of companies in industries as diverse as aviation, automotives, chemicals, renewable energy, and high-speed rail.xxxi To be sure, because such conditions contravene China's WTO commitments, officials are careful not to put such requirements in writing, often resorting to oral communications to pressure foreign firms to transfer technology.xxvii In 2011, then-U.S. Treasury Secretary Timothy Geithner laid such concerns about China's technology transfer requirements in the open, stating that "we're seeing China continue to be very, very aggressive in a strategy they started several decades ago, which goes like this: you want to sell to our country, we want you to come produce here. If you want to come produce here, you need to transfer your technology to us."xxxiii

China often denies such practices by pointing out that they are not in writing. But government action in China can and does occur by informal "administrative guidance" and this is very much the case with coerced technology transfer. Not only does this continue to happen, it's actually getting worse, with Chinese officials insisting on transfers of more valuable technology. For instance, global auto brands are only allowed to manufacture cars domestically in China through joint ventures with local partners. \*\*xxix\*\* For example, China made General Motors' access to subsidies for electric-vehicle purchases contingent on the company handing over the IP behind its electric hybrid car, the Volt. Ford was forced to do the same. \*\*xxx\*\* In November 2016, Volkswagen was compelled to enter a JV if it was to be permitted to sell battery-electric and plug-in hybrid cars in China. \*\*xxxii\*\* This continues despite the fact that China promised to remove these types of measures at the U.S.-China Joint Commission on Commerce and Trade (JCCT) in 2011. \*\*xxxii\*\*

Indeed, the U.S.-China Business Council's 2014 China Business Environment Survey reports that 62 percent of companies had concerns about transferring technology to China, while 20 percent reported that they had been requested to transfer technology to China within the past three years. XXXIII Likewise, a 2012 American Chamber of Commerce in China survey reported that 33 percent of its respondents stated that technology transfer requirements were negatively affecting their businesses. XXXIII Put simply, technology transfer requirements as a condition of doing business in China remain a key pillar of China's innovation mercantilist strategy.

Furthermore, in joining the WTO, China committed to uphold the TRIPS agreement, which provides protections for patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, industrial designs, digital content, and other intangible property. Unfortunately, Chinese IP theft grows unabated. As a recent MIT Sloan Management review article, "Protecting Intellectual Property in China," noted, "Intellectual property protection is the No. 1 challenge for multinational corporations operating in China." \*\*xxxx\*\* According to the U.S. International Trade

Commission, in 2009, U.S. IP-intensive enterprises conducting business in China reported losses of approximately \$48.2 billion in sales, royalties, or license fees due to Chinese IPR infringement. That figure has continued to increase. Subsequently, *The IP Commission Report on the Theft of U.S. Intellectual Property* found that China accounted for nearly 80 percent of all IP thefts from U.S.-headquartered organizations in 2013, amounting to an estimated \$300 billion in lost business annually. Elikewise, a recent European Union-commissioned study found that, among European manufacturers, the loss of IP in China reduces their potential profits by 20 percent annually. Meanwhile, China still has one of the highest rates of unlicensed software usage in the world, with 74 percent of the software in use unlicensed and the market value of unlicensed software usage exceeding \$8.7 billion in 2013. Environment conducted by the U.S.-China Business Council, 98 percent of companies surveyed report that IP rights enforcement in China remains a concern for them. In the conducted by the U.S.-China Business Council, 98 percent of companies surveyed report that IP rights enforcement in China remains a concern for them.

## The Use of Anti-Monopoly Laws to Target Intellectual Property

U.S. companies have also been targeted by China's discriminatory use of anti-monopoly laws as an industrial development tool. China's anti-monopoly law has been designed to treat legitimately acquired intellectual property rights as a monopolistic abuse, with Article 55 stating, "This Law is not applicable to undertakings' conduct in exercise of intellectual property rights pursuant to provisions of laws and administrative regulations relating to intellectual property rights; but this Law is applicable to undertakings' conduct that eliminates or restricts competition by abusing their intellectual property rights." For the Chinese government, "abuse" means charging market-based IP licensing fees to Chinese companies.

This provision has been used to take legal action against companies whose only "crime" is to be innovative and hold patents. Indeed, the Chinese law allows compulsory licensing of IP by a "dominant" company that refuses to license its IP if access to it is "essential for others to effectively compete and innovate." And with Chinese courts largely rubber-stamping the government's dictates, foreign companies have little choice but to comply. All too often, complying means changing their terms of business so that they sell to the Chinese for less and/or transfer even more IP and technology to Chinese-owned companies, often after paying substantial fines. To be clear, this tying of IP to monopolistic behavior is unique to China, and is not part of antitrust law in Europe or the United States.

### Failing to Live Up to Commitments on Government Procurement

In joining the WTO, China agreed to join the Government Procurement Agreement (GPA), which prohibits restrictions on government purchases between member countries in accordance with national treatment principle and further committed "to full transparency and non-discrimination (MFN) in government purchases." But while China has now tabled five offers (relating to the levels of government and types of procurement activities that would be covered by its GPA commitment), USTR notes that, "To date, the United States, the European Union, and other GPA parties have viewed China's offers of coverage as highly

disappointing in scope and coverage."xlv In other words, more than 15 years after it joined the WTO, China has yet to make a credible offer for GPA coverage, despite its commitment to do so swiftly in 2001.

Beyond GPA-related commitments regarding well-recognized government agencies (such as Ministries of Health and Transportation) in joining the GPA, China also "agreed that it will ensure that state-owned and state-invested enterprises will make purchases and sales based solely on commercial considerations, such as price, quality, availability and marketability, and that it will provide U.S. firms with the opportunity to compete for sales and purchases on non-discriminatory terms and conditions." \*\*white the opportunity to compete for sales and purchases on non-discriminatory terms and conditions.

Yet these commitments fly in the face of explicit Chinese efforts to curtail Chinese government agency and state-owned enterprises' procurement of U.S. enterprise-developed or manufactured information and communications technology products. For example, in 2014, the Chinese central government ruled that government offices were prohibited from running Windows 8 (even though most versions were pirated rather than paid for). Around the same time, the Chinese government also announced its scarcely concealed "De-IOE campaign" designed to pressure Chinese companies, especially SOEs, to replace their IBM, Oracle, and EMC products with Chinese-made products and services. Viviii

## **Discriminatory Laws and Regulations**

China continues to discriminate against U.S. firms across a range of industries, something USTR notes in its 2014 Report to Congress on China's WTO Compliance. As the report explains, "China's industrial policies on automobiles and steel call for discrimination against foreign producers and imported goods ... discriminatory treatment also remains prevalent in a variety of services sectors." Moreover, certain aspects of China's legal framework, such as China's extensive use of administrative licensing, "create opportunities for Chinese government officials to treat foreign companies and foreign products less favorably than domestic companies and domestic products." This is despite China's agreement to abide by the WTO's core principles—those of most-favored nation (MFN) and national treatment—that constrain and guide WTO members' policies relating to trade in goods.

#### Discriminatory Cybersecurity Policies

The Chinese government continues to use national security, cybersecurity, and other legal reforms as vehicles for mercantilist objectives. On November 7, 2016, China enacted a new Cybersecurity Law that introduces (further) restrictive requirements on foreign technology companies: *The Economist* aptly described it as a "techno-nationalist Trojan horse." In

China's new cybersecurity law—through discriminatory standards and forced local data-storage requirements—reinforces existing policies that segment its citizens and tech firms, in addition to its broader Internet ecosystem, from the rest of the world. The law is significant, as it is China's first to enact rules on the collection and use of personal data. The law forces companies in "critical information infrastructure" to store

users' "personal information and other important business data" in China, a concept known as "forced localization." lii

The cybersecurity law affects a large portion of China's technology market, as the country is taking an expansive view of what is "critical information infrastructure" (CII). The basis of China's position is thus far broadly defined as information infrastructure in sectors that may seriously jeopardize national security, the national economy, and people's livelihoods or public interest, should such infrastructures malfunction or be subject to damage or data leakages. Indicative of this broad reach, sectors that have been cited for inclusion include public communication and information services, energy, transportation, water resources utilization, finance, public service, and e-government affairs.

China may use the law to expand an existing—and controversial—cybersecurity regulation that is highly discriminatory toward foreign tech firms and products. The cybersecurity law states that China will introduce a cybersecurity multilevel protection scheme (MLPS) for ICT products used in network security by CII sectors. This requirement is perhaps based off an existing MLPS that China has applied for information security (although this is unclear from the wording in the law). In This potential relationship raises serious concerns for foreign technology companies, as this earlier MLPS was highly discriminatory—it prohibited certain sectors from using foreign IT products and forced foreign companies to transfer IP and source code to China for review. In the law of the law

Equally troubling is the potential for China to use the law to revive the use of a high-discriminatory standard for IT products—the so-called "secure and controllable" concept—and intrusive security audits, both of which can be used to discriminate against foreign firms and to steal valuable intellectual property. The law calls for the use of "secure and trusted" network services and productions, without defining the term. Current deliberations by China's National Information Security Standards Technical Committee (NISSTC) on what this concept means (see below) and past Chinese government policy proposals point toward its mercantilist intent. <sup>[vi</sup> This concept, along with its analogous "independent and controllable," "secure and controllable," or "indigenous and controllable" terms have been a part of Chinese technology policymaking debates ever since the country backed down on implementing such a rule as part of a banking law in 2015. That proposed banking law used a "secure and controllable" provision as part of an explicit aim to replace foreign technology goods with local ones. China decided to "withdraw" this provision after it generated significant opposition from tech companies and trading partners, especially the United States. <sup>[vii]</sup>

China essentially wants to force software companies, network-equipment makers, and other tech companies to disclose source code to supposedly prove their products can't be compromised by hackers. Viii Source code—the instructions that make a computer program run—enable technology to do the amazing things it does. For companies developing software, protecting source code is necessary to prevent other entities from stealing and free riding on the large research and development costs associated with software development. Source code is at the heart of a company's competitive advantage, but being digital, it is at heightened risk of duplication.

Given China's poor protection of intellectual property, not to mention its role in the cybertheft of foreign trade secrets, it's unsurprising that foreign firms and trading partners, such as the United States, have reasonable fears that such intrusive inspections are simply a way to access and steal valuable intellectual property.

Fears about China's mercantilist intent have been confirmed during the process to define standards and key concepts under this law. Foreign companies submitted comments on implementing provisions, such as the definition of "secure and controllable," to China's NISSTC after the law was released. Some of Microsoft's comments focused on legitimate concerns about the utility in viewing source code for cybersecurity purposes, stating in its comments to NISSTC that "sharing source code in itself can't prove the capability to be secure and controllable. It only proves there is source code." lix

Yet, indicative of China's ulterior motives, the NISSTC rejected this feedback, saying that this comment was "not accepted." This is despite the fact that Microsoft had already taken the significant step of providing Chinese authorities with viewing access to its source code at its "Transparency Center" in Beijing, a step that most other technology companies have not taken, given the risks of unauthorized disclosure. China's reaction to Microsoft's comments on the draft law is indicative of how intrusive the law is likely to be and how it may get even tougher than it already is for foreign technology companies to operate in China.

China's underlying mercantilist intent was further evident in comments and feedback provided to the NISSTC by the chief engineer at China's Ministry of Public Security's Network Security Bureau, who commented on the draft regulations by stating "the big trend is called shifting to favour domestic production ... but it can't be written that way, so one calls it independent and controllable." NISSTC's response was to mark the comment "approved." lixi

### **Discriminatory Technology Standards**

The more than 500,000 global technology standards in existence today provide the underlying foundation of the global technology marketplace, governing the design, operation, manufacture, interoperability, and use of nearly everything that humanity produces. As Panitchpakdi and Clifford note, in joining the WTO, China agreed to abide by the Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade, which "prohibits the use of tests and standards as a way of discriminating unjustly against trading partners or protecting domestic industries." In other words, the TBT prevents WTO members from using certifications and standards as a barrier to trade.

But as ITIF explains in "The Middle Kingdom Galapagos Island Syndrome: The Cul-De-Sac of Chinese Technology Standards," China has made the development of indigenous technology standards, particularly for ICT products, a core component of its industrial development and economic growth strategy. China has committed to developing unique national standards for dozens of high technology and ICT products—in many cases where international standards already exist—developing homegrown standards for everything from 3G mobile telecommunications services and wireless local area networks to encryption technologies and

the Internet of Things. lav In some cases, such as with WAPI (the Wireless Local Area Network Application and Privacy Infrastructure standard that China developed as an alternative to the WiFi standard), China attempted to require that all wireless networking products sold in China would have to be WAPI-compliant and use its encryption method, in contravention of its commitment to let foreign enterprises use desired technologies in the provision of telecommunication services. lavi

As USTR notes, "China has continued to pursue unique national standards in a number of high technology areas where international standards already exist, such as 3G and 4G telecommunications standards, Wi-Fi standards and information security standards." More commonly, however, Chinese officials "pressure foreign companies seeking to participate in the standards-setting process to license their technology or intellectual property on unfavorable terms." Clearly, China has not met its commitments in the telecommunications sector, either in terms of market access or in refraining from promulgating technology standards that allow companies "to use any technology they choose to provide telecommunications services." Value

## **Ongoing Use of Production and Export Subsidies**

China's entry into the WTO has done little to curtail its use of production or export subsidies. The subsides for China's steel, energy, glass, paper, and auto parts industries have been particularly intensive, contributing substantially to Chinese firms' competitiveness in global markets and to global overcapacity in these industries. As Usha and George Haley document in *Subsidies to Chinese Industry: State Capitalism, Business Strategy, and Trade Policy*, from 2000 to 2007, total energy subsidies to Chinese steel reached \$27.1 billion. Meanwhile, China's glass and glass-products industry received \$30.3 billion in subsidies from 2004 to 2008, while the paper industry enjoyed \$33.1 billion in government subsidies from 2002 to 2009, and the Chinese auto-parts industry received \$27.5 billion in subsidies from 2001 to 2011. Moreover, since joining the WTO in 2001, China has yet to submit to the WTO a complete notification regarding the export or production subsidies maintained by China's central and sub-central governments. Lexii

Furthermore, Chinese SOEs, many of which compete directly with foreign firms, receive significant benefits from all levels of Chinese government even if they are not profitable. For example, an in-depth 2011 study by the Unirule Institute, an independent Chinese think tank, found that in 2009 Chinese SOEs' return on equity was about half the rate of non-state-owned enterprises, a substantial "subsidy" in and of itself. Moreover, without their government-granted advantages, including preferential financing from state banks and free land, Chinese SOEs would have operated at a 6.29 percent loss from 2001 to 2009. http://www.compared.com/preferential government financing enough to make a reasonable profit. http://www.compared.com/preferential government financing. As one study stated, "Our finding reinforces the widely held view that the Chinese financial system allocates resources towards poorly performing SOEs."http://www.compared.com/preferential-government financing. As one study stated, "Our finding reinforces the widely held view that the Chinese financial system allocates resources towards poorly performing SOEs."http://www.compared.com/preferential-government-granted-advantages."

survey by the American Chamber of Commerce in China found that 35 percent of firms stated that they were at a competitive disadvantage as a result of Chinese industrial policies that favored state-owned enterprises. Lexivity

## Weak to Non-Existent Transparency and Reporting of Trade Policies

Despite agreeing to do so when China joined the WTO, the Chinese government has consistently failed to provide the WTO and its trading partners with required information, translated into English (or another official WTO language), regarding policies related to trade in goods, services, intellectual property, subsidies, and foreign investment. Such transparency requirements may appear mundane and bureaucratic, but they are critically important to judging whether a country is abiding by its WTO commitments and whether grounds exist for a trade dispute.

The lack of transparency is part of the reason why USTR needs more people on the ground—to better monitor Chinese government actions. China's governance system is notoriously opaque, complex, and multi-layered with overlapping and often inconsistent national, provincial, and municipal government policies. While such an approach is unnecessary for most trade partners, there is as noted an ongoing need for more USTR officials in China, as USTR has repeatedly reported that many aspects of Chinese policy are hidden away in unpublished measures (including legally unrecognized normative or regulatory documents), oral directives, and Communist Party secret red letter documents. These transparency concerns extend to the provincial and municipal governments which also regularly fail to publish their measures. [hxxvii]

China also regularly fails to provide at least a 30-day period for public comment on drafts of trade- and economic-related regulations and rules as it agreed to at the U.S.-China Strategic and Economic Dialogue in 2008 and 2011. And Chinese agencies frequently adopt measures that take effect immediately when China's WTO obligations require it to allow comments by other agencies and then to translate the measures into a WTO official language and officially publish them before implementation, except in certain cases (such as emergency). Multiple USTR reports show that China's repeated failures to be transparent are part of a consistent pattern to avoid scrutiny for discriminatory and trade-distorting regulations rules and other measures involving subsidies, preferences, anti-competitive government practices, etc. hxxviii

A specific example is China's extensive use of subsidies and its blatant disregard for WTO-required transparency regarding such measures, as well as its failure to release detailed information in the government's budget, the state capital operating budget (SCOB). Despite WTO commitments to submit regular notifications on what subsidies it provides, China did not file its first notification after WTO accession (in 2001) until 2006. Five years later, in 2011, it submitted a second notification for subsidies provided during the period 2005 to 2008. In 2015, it provided a third notification for the period 2009 to 2014. Beyond the delay, all three notifications were significantly incomplete and excluded numerous subsidies that the United States knows the Chinese central government provides. Moreover, none of these notifications included any of the extensive subsidies provided by provincial or local governments. Since 2011, the United States has made formal requests (e.g., counter-notifications) for information from China regarding over 350 unreported

Chinese subsidy measures. China has failed to provide a complete and comprehensive response. Furthermore, China fails to provide a period for public comment for new trade-related laws and regulations—as it agreed to as part of its WTO accession and (again) at the U.S.-China Strategic and Economic Dialogue in 2011. Multiple USTR reports show that this is part of a consistent pattern by China to avoid scrutiny for discriminatory and trade-distorting rules, regulations, and subsidies. hxxx

As USTR explains, China's WTO notifications have "rarely included measures from other agencies that appear to require notification, such as the Ministry of Health, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, or the Ministry of Environmental Protection ... China's TBT [technical barriers to trade] measures continue to enter into force without having first been notified to the TBT Committee, and without foreign companies having had the opportunity to comment on them or even being given a transition period during which they could make necessary adjustments." have

## **Restrictive Market Access for Cloud Computing and Telecommunication Services**

China is contravening a number of WTO commitments in the telecommunications sector, including liberalizing foreign investment, agreeing to implement "pro-competitive regulatory principles," and agreeing "to allow foreign suppliers to use any technology they choose to provide telecommunications services." As USTR notes, however, "China's restrictions on basic telecommunications services, such as informal bans on new entry, a requirement that foreign suppliers can only enter into joint ventures with state-owned enterprises, and exceedingly high capital requirements, have blocked foreign suppliers from accessing China's basic [telecommunications] services market." have blocked foreign suppliers from accessing China's

New regulations regarding cloud-computing services in China confirm its persistence in erecting barriers between its tech sectors and digital economy and that of the rest of the world. In March 2016, China made significant changes to the licensing and regulatory regime of Chinese telecom and Internet services that essentially exclude U.S. technology firms involved in cloud computing, big data, and other information services from operating in China. These regulations, again, reinforced the requirement for forced local data storage. For the vast majority of leading U.S. cloud-service providers, these regulations have essentially closed access to the Chinese market.

China enacted regulatory changes to make it even harder than it already was for U.S. companies to establish and operate Internet-based information services in the country. First, China released regulations for several services it considers valued-added telecommunication services (VATS). By categorizing Internet-based services (e.g., cloud computing, big data, and other information services) as telecommunication services, and not as "computer and related services," China has given itself much greater freedom to restrict market access to U.S. firms. This is because China made commitments as part of its accession to the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 2001 to provide nondiscriminatory treatment and market access to foreign firms in "computer and related services." This category of Internet-based computer services includes email, voicemail, online information and database retrieval, electronic data interchange, and enhanced facsimile services, code and

protocol conversion, and online information and/or data processing. Essentially, China's approach is a technical work-around to avoid its commitment to open its market for Internet-based computer services to foreign competition.

Second, China introduced a requirement for telecom and Internet Service Providers (ISPs) to apply for licenses for each subcategory of services, raising the potential for government agencies to discriminate against foreign firms. For example, China's new subcategory, "internet-based resources collaboration services," means that providers of cloud computing application services, platform as a service, and software as a service would potentially have to apply for multiple licenses, given some firms and services cross over into multiple categories.

Third, China released new requirements that articulate the very small and restricted cloud-computing services space where foreign firms are allowed to operate. In October 2016, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology released the "Notice on Regulating Business Behaviors in the Cloud Service Market," which outlined how foreign cloud companies are forbidden from working via local partnerships in any capacity beyond "technical assistance." It is not specified what is allowed under "technical assistance," but based on current practice, it is likely to mean that foreign companies are only allowed to license their goods (software and hardware) to their (forced) local partners and show them how to use them. The notice further specifies several activities that cloud service providers cannot perform, such as sign contracts directly with end users.

These new restrictions on U.S. cloud service providers make an already restrictive situation that much worse. Strict entry requirements and (an already highly) discriminatory licensing process have largely kept foreign firms out of China's market. To operate in China, foreign firms must set up a joint venture with a Chinese partner, which must be granted majority ownership (i.e., greater than 50 percent). A joint venture was a prerequisite for foreign firms to even apply for a license from Chinese authorities. Although there are over 20,000 local companies licensed to provide VATS in China, only 30 or so licenses have been issued to foreign companies, including five U.S. companies. bxxxvii

A few U.S. firms have successfully run the gauntlet and decided to operate in China within the confines of these strict conditions by partnering with large Chinese firms—for example, Microsoft with 21Vianet (China's largest private data center operator) and IBM with a group of local companies. https://www.iii As described, these firms are severely restricted in what they can do, often being constrained to arrangements whereby they license their products to their local partners, who set up and run the data centers and cloud services and manage relations with end users.

This mercantilist approach to cloud computing is consistent with China's ongoing efforts to develop a local cloud-computing sector that uses indigenously developed technology. China's ambitions in the sector started as part of the country's *National Medium and Long-Term Plan (MLP) for Science and Technology Development (2006-2020)*. Building on this in 2010, China identified cloud computing as one of 11 strategic emerging

industries that would receive special attention and funding, all in pursuit of the goal of expanding access to cloud resources in China, developing indigenous cloud-computing technology, and creating an internationally competitive Chinese cloud-computing sector. More recently, the Ministry of Science and Technology's 12th Five-Year Plan (2011-2015) paid particular attention to cloud computing, where the aim became to develop a cloud-computing standard based on indigenously developed technology. hxxix These policies, taken together, show China's efforts to use mercantilist policies at home to support the development of "local champions," who, ideally for China, will eventually become more innovative and competitive and able to compete in overseas markets—against the very tech firms that are unable not allowed to or impeded from competing in China.

## **China's Non-Market Economy Status**

Whether or not the United States recognizes China as a market-based economy or a nonmarket-based economy has significant implications, including in making key economic calculations of prices and costs estimated in antidumping and countervailing duty cases. The United States should continue to recognize China as a nonmarket economy. China's continuing use of production and export subsidies, provision of below-market-cost inputs such as financing and access to land, continuing prevalence of state-owned or state-directed enterprises, and state-influenced procurement decision-making of SOEs and "private sector" firms alike (among other factors), as well as state planning around technology and intellectual property means the United States should continue to recognize China as a nonmarket economy.

The issue pertains to Article 15 of China's Protocol of Accession to the WTO, which allowed WTO members to "disregard Chinese prices and costs in antidumping cases and instead base the calculation of dumping margins using external benchmarks."xc Specifically, Article 15(a)(ii) states, "The importing WTO member may use a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in China if the producers under investigation cannot clearly show that market conditions prevail."xci Chinese officials have argued that this practice should no longer be permitted after December 2016, pursuant to Article 15(d) of the Protocol, which states, "In any event, the provisions of subparagraph (a)(ii) shall expire 15 years after the date of accession."xcii But, as Hufbauer and Cimino-Isaacs point out, Article 15(a) (which informs article 15(d)) only really disappears "once China has established, under the national law of the importing WTO Member, that it is a market economy."xciii (They also argue that there need not only be a binary choice between "market" and "nonmarket" economy.) Regardless, as this submission has documented, China continues not to behave like a market-based economy, and should not be recognized as such.

## **CENTRAL AND SOUTH AMERICA**

A thriving digital economy needs to have the right legal framework in place to encourage legal digital commerce to take place, especially as it relates to IP. Crucial to this are laws to establish how digital intermediaries are liable or not for their users who infringe copyright and if/how these intermediaries work with rights holders to remove this material. When this "safe harbor" framework is unbalanced—i.e., when

intermediaries are not liable, or when they have limited liability protections, but without corresponding responsibilities and mechanisms to help ensure IP is effectively protected—it undermines the ability of U.S. rights holders to benefit from their IP in today's digital economy.

There are clear societal benefits to removing infringing content from the Internet. Widespread piracy has a negative economic impact, seriously harming the artists who create content and the technicians who produce it. Piracy limits the ability of content producers to create legitimate business models for selling digital content. It hurts U.S. competitiveness as the U.S. economy has a competitive advantage in content industries. Digital piracy remains a major issues despite the growth of innovative, legitimate alternatives to piracy. This is why it is critical for the United States to press those countries to follow through on the commitments they made in trade agreements with the United States to enact laws that would allow U.S. rightsholders to better protect their IP online.

## Colombia

Colombia's digital economy continues to grow, with digital music sales growing 94.9 percent in 2014. \*\*cvi\* However, digital piracy remains a major issue in Colombia. In 2016, there were an estimated 500 million visits from Colombia to the top 108 Spanish-language piracy websites. Colombia is also ranked among the top 25 countries in the world in the number of peers discovered in peer-to-peer groups in which illegal copies of console video games were distributed. \*\*cvii\* Colombia made commitments in its trade agreement with the United States that could help reduce this so that U.S. and local content providers (such as Google Play, iTunes, and YouTube) can better protect and use their IP.

Colombia Committed to implement a liability framework for Internet service providers as part of the U.S.-Colombia Trade Promotion Agreement, but it has failed to do so after a number of failed legislative attempts. For example, in 2011, Colombia's parliament passed Draft Law No. 241, which included liability exemptions for ISPs, including for mere conduit, caching, hosting, and information location tools (e.g., search, hyperlinks, and directories). It included exceptions for ISP liability for copyright infringement, so long as the ISP met the conditions for removing or disabling access to copyright infringing material. A subsequent attempt to implement a range of relevant IP laws was deemed unconstitutional on procedural grounds by Colombia's Constitutional Court. \*\*reviii\*

### Costa Rica

In 2009, Costa Rica ratified the Dominican Republic-Central America free trade agreement (CAFTA-DR), which included commitments to enact liability limitation against service providers for copyright infringement, if conditions are met in terms of their service and their reaction to requests to remove copyright infringing material (Ch. 15, Section 15.11.27). Service providers also need to setup a "notice and takedown" mechanism to remove copyright infringing material.\*\* Despite this, in 2011, Costa Rica only adopted a "notice and notice" system in Decree No. 36,880 COMEX-JP.

### Guatemala

Guatemala does not have any specific legislation regarding ISP liability, despite being a member of the U.S.-CAFTA-DR free trade agreement. This agreement included commitments to enact liability limitation against service providers for copyright infringement, if conditions are met in terms of their service and their reaction to requests to remove copyright infringing material (Ch. 15, Section 15.11.27). Service providers also need to setup a "notice and takedown" mechanism to remove copyright infringing material.<sup>c</sup>

### **Honduras**

Honduras does not have any specific legislation regarding ISP intermediary liability, despite being a member of the U.S.-DR-CA free trade agreement. This agreement included commitments to enact liability limitation against service providers for copyright infringement, if conditions are met in terms of their service and their reaction to requests to remove copyright infringing material (Ch. 15, Section 15.11.27). Service providers also need to setup a "notice and takedown" mechanism to remove copyright-infringing material.<sup>ci</sup>

## Nicaragua

Nicaragua does not have any specific legislation regarding ISP intermediary liability, despite being a member of the U.S.-DR-CA free trade agreement. This agreement included commitments to enact liability limitation against service providers for copyright infringement, if conditions are met in terms of their service and their reaction to requests to remove copyright-infringing material (Ch. 15, Section 15.11.27). Service providers also need to setup a "notice and takedown" mechanism to remove copyright-infringing material.<sup>cii</sup>

## **Panama**

Panama does not have any specific legislation regarding ISP intermediary liability, despite commitments it made in the U.S.-Panama Trade Promotion Agreement to enact a limited liability framework for services providers on copyright-infringement issues. Under Ch. 15.11, Article 15.11, Section 27(a), Panama committed to adopt "legal incentives for service providers to cooperate with copyright owners in deterring the unauthorized storage and transmission of copyrighted materials." However, Panama does not appear to have adopted any such "incentives" through a notice and takedown system or a notice and notice system.

#### Peru

Similar to other South American countries, Peru's digital market is growing strongly, including through legal distribution platforms, with digital music sales almost doubling in 2014.<sup>civ</sup> Yet digital piracy remains a major issue in Peru. From December 2015 through June 2016, individuals in Peru made 133 million visits to the top 108 Spanish-language piracy websites.<sup>cv</sup> Peru made commitments in its trade agreement with the United

States that could help reduce this so that U.S. and local content providers (such as Google Play, iTunes, and YouTube, etc.) can better protect and use their IP.

Peru does not have any specific legislation regarding ISP intermediary liability, despite commitments it made in the U.S.-Peru Trade Promotion Agreement concerning liability limitations and copyright, which included a "notice and takedown" system.<sup>cvi</sup> However, Peru has not yet implemented these provisions.<sup>cvii</sup> In late 2012, Peru's government committed to enact these intermediate liability provisions, however no follow up action was taken.<sup>cviii</sup>

### SOUTH KOREA – STOPPING OR MAKING IT DIFFICULT TO TRANSFER DATA

The U.S.-South Korea free trade agreement (KORUS) provided meaningful new market access commitments in many areas, including services supplied across borders (such as through electronic means). Since coming into force in March 2012, U.S. services exports to Korea have substantially increased—from 2011 to 2014, U.S. services exports to Korea rose from \$16.7 billion to \$20.7 billion, an increase of 24.4 percent. Among the services industries that are benefitting are: audiovisual; finance; insurance; energy services; transportation, logistics, and express delivery services; information technology services; and telecommunications. cix

The free flow of data is essential to enabling the cross-border supply of many modern services. In this, KORUS set a first for U.S. trade policy by including binding rules on cross-border data flows. Article 15.8 states that:

"Recognizing the importance of the free flow of information in facilitating trade, and acknowledging the importance of protecting personal information, the Parties shall endeavor to refrain from imposing or maintaining unnecessary barriers to electronic information flows across borders." cx

Furthermore, in Annex 13-B Korea committed to allow:

"...a financial institution of the other Party to transfer information in electronic or other form, into and out of its territory, for data processing where such processing is required in the institution's ordinary course of business. Korea shall give effect to this commitment no later than two years after the date this Agreement enters into force." cxi

However, the first commitment was only hortatory in nature, so it was unclear at the time of signing what impact this would have on U.S.-Korea data flows. Since coming into force, U.S. firms have faced a number of issues regarding data flows.

### For example:

- In South Korea, the Personal Information Protection Act requires companies to obtain consent from "data subjects" (i.e., the individuals associated with particular data sets) prior to exporting that data. CXIII The act also requires "data subjects" to be informed of who receives their data, the recipient's purpose for having that information, the period that information will be retained, and the specific personal information to be provided. This is clearly a substantial burden on companies trying to send data across borders.
- South Korea had rules in place that impeded U.S. financial firms' ability to transfer data overseas for processing, contravening the commitment in Annex 13-B. These restrictive rules included: getting approval before outsourcing data processing overseas; getting pre-approval before allowing data transfers; and restricting data transfers to the company's head office, branches, or affiliates, thereby making it illegal to use third-party data processors. In mid-2015, Korea's Financial Services Commission issued revised rules on the regulations of how financial institutions could outsource data processing to make this process much easier. CXIII
- South Korea has used data localization requirements to protect local e-commerce and online payment operators. Korea's Regulation on Supervision of Credit-Specialized Financial Business prohibited e-commerce firms from storing Korean customers' credit card numbers outside the country. In 2013, Korea slightly revised this rule by allowing certain foreign e-commerce firms (those with stores in more than five countries) to store such data abroad. Carity
- In 2014, South Korea enacted a law—Act on the Establishment, Management, Etc. of Spatial
  Data—that prohibits mapping data from being stored outside the country due to security concerns.<sup>cxv</sup>
  Korea has defended the policy as it wants to limit the availability of high-resolution commercial
  satellite imagery of Korea for national security reasons, even though such imagery is already available
  commercially.
- In 2015, Korea enacted the Act on Promotion of Cloud Computing and Protection of Users. Subsequent guidelines—the Data Protection Standards for Cloud Computing Services Guidelines—contain rules that effectively require data localization as cloud computing networks serving public agencies have to be physically separate from networks serving the general public. While these guidelines are only "recommended" and there is no penalty for non-compliance, Korean institutions usually follow such guidelines. This discriminatory policy may have a significant affect as it applies to thousands of institutions, such as educational institutions, public banks, and public hospitals.<sup>cxvi</sup>

These cases show that Korea has not been very "restrained" from enacting barriers to cross-border data flows to the United States, and in doing so, highlights the risk of relying on hortatory, and not legally binding, commitments. Even where it did make a binding commitment on financial data flows, Korea's use of

regulatory rules to undermine this commitment highlights the need for future U.S. trade agreements to have clear dispute settlement procedures in place given the potential for discriminatory and arbitrary rules to undermine commitments on data flows. These cases also highlight how countries can use a broad application of national security (as with mapping data) and government procurement requirements to force companies to cut off data flows and/or setup local IT facilities. These lessons need to be applied to future trade agreements to ensure that any exceptions to rules that prohibit barriers to cross-border data flows are clear and narrowly tailored to legitimate public policy goals.

#### VIETNAM – RESTRICTIONS ON OVER-THE-TOP SERVICES

Vietnam's restrictions on U.S. over-the-top (OTT) service providers violates a number of Vietnam's WTO commitments. In January 2016, Vietnam released a draft regulation—Draft Decree Amending Decree 72—for OTT services that forces foreign firms to store data locally and for some foreign OTT service providers of chargeable services (i.e., not offered for free) to form an undefined commercial relationship with a local telecommunication company as a condition of market entry. Cavili

OTT services are those delivered via the Internet and are some of the most popular and innovative services available, especially with the spread of smart phone ownership. For messaging and communications, U.S. OTT service providers, such as WhatsApp and Messenger (both owned by Facebook), Skype (owned by Microsoft), and Google Allo, provide instant-messaging and calling services as an alternative to those provided by traditional mobile and fixed-line network operators. Globally, OTT services market is expected to grow 16.4 percent a year between 2017 and 2025, which would make the sector worth an estimated \$2.5 billion by 2025. Business models such as subscription and premium, adware, and ecommerce constitute the various types of models through which the global OTT services market generate revenue. Of these the premium and subscription model segment accounted for a dominant 48 percent of the overall market in 2016. CXVIIII

In using the Internet, OTT service providers and their customers can bypass traditional telecommunications network service providers to compete with services (such as voice) from telecommunications companies. These technological innovations have changed consumer behavior in media and telecommunications markets, among others, allowing consumers to change how they access and consume media and communicate. This is especially the case in developing countries that have deployed mobile-phone services before (or instead of) traditional phone services, thereby leapfrogging costly fixed-line infrastructure, which has also led to a vibrant app and digital economy.

Vietnam did not carve out exceptions that could account for the measures in Decree 72 when it joined the WTO in 2007. Instead, Vietnam's commitment for Internet Access Services only states that the "service must be offered through commercial arrangements with an entity established in Viet Nam." The nature of Vietnam's OTT requirement shows that these measures violate this commitment and other WTO rules by discriminating against foreign firms.

First, the targeted and discriminatory nature of the requirement is shown by the fact other OTT services face no such requirements, such as chargeable services other than voice and messaging services (e.g., on-line gaming services) and free OTT voice and messaging services.

Second, differences between OTT service providers and traditional telecommunications companies show why these requirements are a disguised trade barrier. OTT service providers are not traditional network providers and therefore do not need to setup an interconnection arrangement with a telecommunications operator (e.g., agreements between different networks in different countries in order to exchange data). An interconnection requirement makes sense for traditional, circuit-switched networks and services, which require physical interconnection arrangements, negotiated under contract or set by tariff. However, the nature of OTT services is that they can be provided over the Internet completely independent of any underlying transmission provider. Given this, there is no legitimate reason for OTT firms to store data locally or to establish a commercial arrangement with local telecommunications companies.

Given this, Vietnam's requirement for foreign OTT firms to enter into a commercial arrangement with a local telecommunications company violates GATS commitments that prohibit such arbitrary and discriminatory measures. GATS Article VI states that "all measures of general application affecting trade in services are administered in a reasonable, objective and impartial manner." Furthermore, GATS Article XIV requires that "[s]ubject to the requirement that such measures are not applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail, or a disguised restriction on trade in services." Furthermore, forcing foreign OTT service providers to locate a server in Vietnam or to enter into a commercial arrangement with a local telecommunications company in order to provide their service violates Vietnam's commitment to provide National Treatment—i.e. treating foreigners and locals equally—to foreign suppliers.

Given Vietnam's WTO commitments, U.S. firms should be free to decide how they structure their operations and whether they store their data locally or elsewhere. There is no reasonable basis for these regulations besides discriminating against foreign firms and disadvantaging them by raising their costs (by forcing them to setup or use duplicative IT infrastructure for data storage). It is clear that Vietnam seems intent on using regulation to protect traditional telecommunications providers that are unable to (or simply do not want to) compete with innovative OTT service providers. Indicative of this approach, Vietnamese media reported that Vietnam's prime minister ordered the Ministry of Information and Communications to restrict other OTT apps due to the impact these apps were having on traditional mobile carriers, such as Vietnam's largest mobile network operator Viettel (which is owned by Vietnam's Ministry of Defense). As a Zalo representative (a local OTT firm) rightly pointed out, free email services took over from postal services, but no one banned these services, yet the government seems intent on trying to do this with OTT services.

## **ENDNOTES**

- Arti Rai et al., "Patent Reform: Unleashing Innovation, Promoting Economic Growth and Producing High Paying Jobs" (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Commerce, April 13, 2010), 2, http://www.esa.doc.gov/sites/default/files/patentreform\_0.pdf.
- ii. John Wu, Adams Nager, and Joseph Chuzhin, "High0Tech Nation: How Technological Innovation Shapes America's 435 Congressional Districts" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, November, 2016), http://www2.itif.org/technation-2016-report.pdf?\_ga=2.117486281.1791310980.1500900546-1587272363.1471870371
- iii. Mark Muro et al., "America's Advanced Industries: What They Are, Where They Are, and Why They Matter" (Brookings, February 2015), 3, https://www.brookings.edu/wp content/uploads/2015/02/AdvancedIndustry\_FinalFeb2lores-1.pdf.
- iv. Tufts Center for the Study of Drug Development, "Cost to Develop and Win Marketing Approval for a New Drug Is \$2.6 Billion," news release, November 18, 2014, http://csdd.tufts.edu/news/complete\_story/pr\_tufts\_csdd\_2014\_cost\_study.
- v. Dominic Gates, "Boeing Celebrates 787 Delivery as Program's Costs Top \$32 Billion," *The Seattle Times*, September 24, 2011, http://seattletimes.com/html/businesstechnology/2016310102\_boeing25.html.
- Dominic Gates, "Boeing celebrates 787 delivery as program's costs top \$32 billion," *Seattle Times*, September 25, 2011, http://www.seattletimes.com/business/boeing-celebrates-787-delivery-as-programs-costs-top-32-billion/.
- vii. Antonio Vezzani and Sandro Montresor, "The Production Function of Top R&D Investors: Accounting for Size and Sector Heterogeneity with Quantile Estimations," *Research Policy* 44, no.2 (2015), http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314001462.
- viii. Daniel Castro and Alan McQuinn, "Cross-Border Data Flows Enable Growth in All Industries" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, March 2015), http://www2.itif.org/2015-cross-border-data-flows.pdf.
- ix. Erik van der Marel et al., "A Friendly Fire on Economic Recovery: A Methodology to Estimate the Costs of Data Regulations" (occasional paper no. 3/2014, European Centre for International Political Economy, February 2014), http://www.ecipe.org/app/uploads/2014/12/OCC32014\_\_1.pdf.
- x. Phillippe Aghion, et al., "Competition and Innovation: An Inverted-U Relationship," *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 120, no. 2 (2005): 701.
- xi. F.M. Scherer, "Market Structure and the Employment of Scientists and Engineers," *American Economic Review* 57, no. 3 (1967): 524–531; Toshihiko Mukoyama, "Innovation, Imitation, and Growth with Cumulative Technology," *Journal of Monetary Economics* 50, no. 2 (2003): 361–380.
- xii. Aamir Rafique Hasmi, "The Inverted-U Relationship Revisited," *Review of Economics and Statistics* 95, no. 5, (2012): 1653–1668, http://ssrn.com/abstract=2012918.
- xiii. Joseph Schumpeter, Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy (New York: Harper, 1975), 82–85.
- xiv. Mike Moore, "The WTO and the World Economy" (speech, National Foreign Trade Council World Trade Dinner, New York, May 22, 2000), World Trade Organization (WTO), <a href="https://www.wto.org/english/news">https://www.wto.org/english/news</a> e/spmm e/spmm31 e.htm.
- xv. Ibid.
- xvi. World Trade Organization (WTO), "WTO Successfully Concludes Negotiations on China's Entry," news release, September 17, 2001, <a href="https://www.wto.org/english/news-e/pres01-e/pr243-e.htm">https://www.wto.org/english/news-e/pres01-e/pr243-e.htm</a>.
- xvii. "All Change: China's Economy and the WTO," *The Economist*, December 10, 2011, http://www.economist.com/node/21541448/print.
- xviii. Jost Wübbeke et al., "Made in China 2025: The Making of a High-Tech Superpower and Consequences for Industrial Countries" (Mercator Institute for China Studies, December 2016),

https://www.merics.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/downloads/MPOC/MPOC\_Made\_in\_China\_2025/MPOC\_No.2\_MadeinChina\_2025.pdf.

- xix. Robert Atkinson, Nigel Cory, and Stephen Ezell, "Stopping China's Mercantilism: A Doctrine of Constructive, Alliance-Backed Confrontation" (the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, March 2017); Stephen Ezell and Robert Atkinson "False Promises: the Yawning Gap Between China's WTO Commitments and Practices" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, September 2015); Robert D. Atkinson, Enough is Enough: Confronting Chinese Innovation Mercantilism (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, February 2012), http://www2.itif.org/2012-enough-enoughchinese-mercantilism.pdf; Nigel Cory, "The Worst Innovation Mercantilist Policies of 2016" (the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2017), http://www2.itif.org/2017-worst-innovation-mercantilist-policies.pdf; Hearing on Chinese Investment in the United States: Impacts and Issues for Policymakers, Before the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission, 115th Cong. (January 26, 2017) (testimony of Robert D. Atkinson, President Information Technology and Innovation Foundation).
- XX. Mark Wu, "The 'China, Inc.' Challenge to Global Trade Governance," Harvard International Law Journal 57 (2016): 1001–1063, https://papers.srn.com/sol3/papers2.cfm?abstract\_id=2779781. Wu outlines how China's "state capitalism," or "China Inc." as he prefers to call it, is not found anywhere else in the world and would not be easily replicated by other societies. The Chinese economy significantly differs from the economic models that influenced the Uruguay Round agreements. Wu outlines six elements that make China Inc. unique, some of which on their own resemble elements found elsewhere, but the interactions of these six elements cause the Chinese economy to be exceptional. This gives rise to an economy where the Party-state remains all powerful, but significant economic activity is driven by private enterprises. Furthermore, it is difficult to apply typical differentiating labels in China, such as market vs. non-market and private-led vs. state-led. The six elements are: the state (SASAC) as a corporate holding entity; state control of financial institutions; state control over planning and inputs (NDRC); Chinese-style corporate groups and affiliated networks; Communist Party involvement and control; and the intertwined nature of private enterprises and the party-state. Although China has become more transparent and marketoriented than it was prior to WTO accession, it has not converged along the lines of either a market economy or one of the alternative structures seen elsewhere in the world, such as a command economy, a "transition" economy from command to market-based, or the conglomerate-led structure of East Asia. Hence, the China Inc. model remains a distinct form of its own.
- xxi. To the extent they could, negotiators set specific provisions in China's WTO protocol to address them. But this raises the question as to why there are not more WTO rules dealing with issues specific to China's economic model. The belief that China would converge along the lines of other economies, such as toward a market-based economy, have proven false. While negotiators may have disagreed as to where China's economic model would end up, they shared a common (now mistaken) belief that China would converge toward an economic model already considered by the WTO framework. This has not happened.
- xxii. Office of the United States Trade Representative, 2017 National Trade Estimate Report on Foreign Trade Barriers (Washington, DC: U.S. Trade Representative, 2017), https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/files/reports/2017/NTE/2017%20NTE.pdf
- xxiii. Congressional-Executive Commission on China, "China's Working Party Report," (November 2011), 49, http://www.cecc.gov/pages/selectLaws/WTOimpact/wkptrptPRCWTO.php; Atkinson, *Enough*, 13.
- xxiv. World Trade Organization, *Report of the Working Party on the Accession of China* (WTO, October 1, 2001), http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/html/113814.htm.
- xxv. The U.S.-China Business Council (USCBC), "Unofficial USCBC Chart of Localization Targets by Sector Set in the MIIT Made in China 2025 Key Technology Roadmap," accessed February 15, 2017,

- https://www.uschina.org/sites/default/files/2-2-16%20Sector%20and%20Localization%20Targets%20for%20Made%20in%20China%202025.pdf.
- xxvi. Thomas M. Hout and Pankaj Ghemawat, "China vs the World: Whose Technology Is It?," *Harvard Business Review*, December 2010, http://hbr.org/2010/12/china-vs-the-world-whose-technology-is-it/ar/1.
- xxvii. Wayne M. Morrison, "China-U.S. Trade Issues" (Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, February 9, 2017), 25, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/RL33536.pdf.
- xxviii. Tim Mak, "Geithner: China 'Stealing' U.S. Ideas," *Politico*, September 23, 2011, http://www.politico.com/news/stories/0911/64275.html.
- xxix. Jake Spring, "VW Plans Big Push for Low-CO2 Cars in China," *Reuters*, printed in *Automotive News Europe*, November 17, 2016, <a href="http://europe.autonews.com/article/20161117/ANE/161119865/vw-plans-big-push-for-low-co2-cars-in-china">http://europe.autonews.com/article/20161117/ANE/161119865/vw-plans-big-push-for-low-co2-cars-in-china</a>.
- xxx. The Impact of International Technology Transfer on American Research and Development, Hearing Before the House Science Committee, Subcommittee on Investigations and Oversight, H.R., 112th Cong. (December 5, 2012) (statement of Robert D. Atkinson, Ph.D., President, Information Technology and Innovation Foundation), http://www2.itif.org/2012-international-tech-transfer-testimony.pdf.
- xxxi. Jake Spring, "VW Plans Big Push for Low-CO2 Cars in China," Reuters, printed in Automotive News Europe, November 17, 2016, http://europe.autonews.com/article/20161117/ANE/161119865/vw-plansbig-push-for-low-co2-cars-in-china.
- xxxii. U.S. Department of Commerce, "22nd U.S.-China Joint Commission on Commerce and Trade Fact Sheet," news release, November 21, 2011, <a href="http://2010-2014.commerce.gov/news/fact-sheets/2011/11/21/22nd-us-china-joint-commission-commerce-and-trade-fact-sheet.html">http://2010-2014.commerce.gov/news/fact-sheets/2011/11/21/22nd-us-china-joint-commission-commerce-and-trade-fact-sheet.html</a>.
- xxxiii. The US-China Business Council (USCBC), "USCBC 2014 China Business Environment Survey Results: Growth Continues Amidst Rising Competition, Policy Uncertainty" (USCBC, 2014), https://www.uschina.org/sites/default/files/USCBC%202014%20China%20Business%20Environment%20Survey%20Results%20%28English%29\_0.pdf.
- xxxiv. .American Chamber of Commerce in China (AmCham China), "AmCham China 2012 China Business Climate Survey Report," (AmCham China, 2012).
- xxxv. Andreas Schotter and Mary Teagarden, "Protecting Intellectual Property in China" *MIT Sloan Management Review*, June 17, 2014, http://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/protecting-intellectual-property-in-china/.
- xxxvi. Katherine Linton, Alexander Hammer, and Jeremy Wise, *China: Intellectual Property Infringement, Indigenous Innovation Policies, and Frameworks for Measuring the Effects on the U.S. Economy* (U.S. International Trade Commission, November 2010), http://www.usitc.gov/publications/332/pub4199.pdf.
- xxxvii. The Commission on the Theft of American Intellectual Property, The IP Commission Report (The National Bureau of Asian Research, May 2013), 4, http://www.ipcommission.org/report/ip\_commission\_report\_052213.pdf.
- xxxviii. Joachim Ihrcke and Krystina Becker, "Study on the Future Opportunities and Challenges of EU-China Trade and Investment Relations—Study 1 of 12: Machinery" (Droege & Company, 2007), http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2007/february/tradoc\_133301.pdf.
- xxxix. Business Software Alliance (BSA), "The Compliance Gap: BSA Global Software Survey" (BSA, June 2014), 4, http://globalstudy.bsa.org/2013/downloads/studies/2013GlobalSurvey\_Study\_en.pdf.
- xl. The US-China Business Council (USCBC), "USCBC 2013 China Business Environment Survey Results: Tempered Optimism Continues amid Moderating Growth, Rising Costs, and Persistent Market Barriers," (USCBC, 2013),
  - https://www.uschina.org/sites/default/files/USCBC%E2%80%942013Member%20Survey\_1.pdf.
    Ministry of Commerce of People's Republic of China, "Anti-Monopoly Law of the People's Republic of
- xli. Ministry of Commerce of People's Republic of China, "Anti-Monopoly Law of the People's Republic of China," August 3, 2008, http://english.mofcom.gov.cn/article/policyrelease/Businessregulations/201303/20130300045909.shtml.

- xlii. James McGregor, "China's Drive for 'Indigenous Innovation' A Web of Industrial Policies" (working paper, APCO Worldwide), 15, https://www.uschamber.com/sites/default/files/legacy/reports/100728chinareport\_0.pdf.
- xliii. Hearing on Foreign Investment Climate in China before the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission (2015) (written testimony of Dr. Robert D. Atkinson, President, Information Technology and Innovation Foundation), 3, http://www2.itif.org/2015-uscc-investment-climate.pdf.
- xliv. Supachai Panitchpakdi and Mark Clifford, *China and the WTO: Changing China, Changing World Trade* (New York: John Wiley & Sons, 2012).
- xlv. Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR), 2016 Report to Congress On China's WTO Compliance, (Washington, D.C.: USTR, January 2017), https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2016-China-Report-to-Congress.pdf., 13.
- xlvi. Panitchpakdi and Clifford, China and the WTO, 230.
- xlvii. Hearing on Foreign Investment Climate, 3.
- xlviii. Li Xiaoxiao et al., "China Pulling the Plug on IBM, Oracle, Others," *MarketWatch*, June 26, 2014, http://www.marketwatch.com/story/china-pulling-the-plug-on-ibm-oracle-others-2014-06-26.
- xlix. USTR, Report on China's WTO Compliance, 56.
- l. Ibid.
- li. Josh China and Eva Dou, "China's New Cybersecurity Law Rattles Foreign Tech Firms," *The Wall Street Journal*, November 7, 2016, <a href="http://www.wsj.com/articles/china-approves-cybersecurity-law-1478491064">http://www.usj.com/articles/china-approves-cybersecurity-law-1478491064</a>. "China Adopts Tough Cyber-Security Law," *The Economist*, November 12, 2106, <a href="http://www.economist.com/news/china/21710001-foreign-firms-are-worried-china-adopts-tough-cyber-security-law.">http://www.economist.com/news/china/21710001-foreign-firms-are-worried-china-adopts-tough-cyber-security-law.</a>
- lii. "China Passes Controversial Cyber Security Law," *Baker McKenzie*, November 15, 2016, http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=d23109be-661d-4e90-a92c-32b7330e3a49.
- liii. The specific scope of critical information infrastructure will be developed by the State Council. The cybersecurity law also makes CIIs subject to the Multi-Level Protection Scheme (MLPS) for network security, but it is unclear where this refers to an existing MLPS for information security (launched in 2007) or something else. It should be noted that the definition of levels three to five of information systems under MLPS for information security is substantially similar to that of CII in cybersecurity law. Karen Ip, Nanda Lau, and James Gong, "China's New Cyber-Security Law Highlights," *Herbert Smith Freehills LLP*, November 29, 2016, http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=6d37cbb0-b341-4106-87b0-40b68f138bf1.
- liv. In 2007, the MLPS for information security was formally launched by the Ministry of Public Security (MPS), National Administration for Protection of State Secrets (NAPSS), and the Office of State Cipher Code Administration (OSCCA), led by the State Council.
- lv. This MLPS classifies information networks in China according to their relative impact on national security, social order, and economic interests if the system is damaged or attacked. The classification levels range from one to five, one being the least critical and five being the most critical. A level five ranking indicates extremely significant networks, such as for military and defense. According to MLPS regulations, systems classified at level three or above must procure IT security products containing only domestic IP. "China Information and Communications Technology Equipment and Software" (Washington, DC: International Trade Administration, May 31, 2016), https://www.export.gov/article?id=China-Information-Communication-Technology.
- lvi. The definition of what is involved is being considered by China's National Information Security Standards Technical Committee (also known as Technical Committee 260) under the Cyberspace Administration of China, which is the cybersecurity standards maker, as part of its efforts to craft technical specifications for the new cybersecurity law. Eva Dou, "Microsoft, Intel, IBM Push Back on China Cybersecurity Rules," *The*

- *Wall Street Journal*, December 1, 2016, http://www.wsj.com/articles/microsoft-intel-ibm-push-back-on-china-cybersecurity-rules-1480587542.
- lvii. This law required domestic and foreign banks to progressively increase their expenditure on "secure and controllable" IT to reach the level of 75 percent by 2019. Paul Mozur, "New Rules in China Upset Western Tech Companies," *The New York Times*, January 28, 2015, http://www.nytimes.com/2015/01/29/technology/in-china-new-cybersecurity-rules-perturb-western-tech-companies.html? r=0.
- lviii. Eva Dou, "Microsoft, Intel, IBM Push Back on China Cybersecurity Rules," *The Wall Street Journal*, December 1, 2016, http://www.wsj.com/articles/microsoft-intel-ibm-push-back-on-china-cybersecurity-rules-1480587542.
- lix. The comments were made in a discussion log made public by Technical Committee 260, the national cybersecurity standards maker, as it released technical parameters of its omnibus cybersecurity law adopted on November 7. Ibid.
- lx. Ibid.
- lxi. Ibid.
- lxii. Donald E. Purcell, "SES Webinar: The Strategic Value of Standards Education" (presentation, May 2013), http://www.strategicstandards.com/files/TheStrategicValueofStandardsEducation.pdf.
- lxiii. Panitchpakdi and Clifford, China and the WTO, 242.
- lxiv. Julie A. Hedlund and Robert D. Atkinson, "The Rise of the New Mercantilists: Unfair Trade Practices in the Innovation Economy" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, June 2007), 21, http://www.itif.org/files/ITMercantilism.pdf.
- lxv. Stephen Ezell and Robert D. Atkinson, "The Middle Kingdom Galapagos Island Syndrome: The Cul-De-Sac of Chinese Technology Standards" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, December 2014), 1, http://www2.itif.org/2014-galapagos-chinese-ict.pdf?\_ga=1.46708324.211397598.1440087131.
- lxvi. Ibid., 17.
- Ixvii. Michael B. G. Froman, 2015 National Trade Estimate Report on Foreign Trade Barriers (United States Trade Representative's Office, April 2015), 72, https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2015%20NTE%20Combined.pdf, 13.
- lxviii. Ibid., 75.
- lxix. Panitchpakdi and Clifford, *China and the WTO*, 225.
- lxx. Usha C. V. Haley and George T. Haley, "The Hidden Advantage of Chinese Subsidies," *The World Financial Review*, September 26, 2014, http://www.worldfinancialreview.com/?p=2942.
- lxxi. Usha C. V. Haley and George T. Haley, *Subsidies to Chinese Industry: State Capitalism, Business Strategy, and Trade Policy* (Oxford, England: Oxford University Press, 2013).
- lxxii. United States Trade Representative's Office (USTR), 2014 Report to Congress on China's WTO Compliance (USTR, December 2014), 27, https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2014-Report-to-CongressFinal.pdf
- lxxiii. Sheng Hong and Zhao Nong, *The Nature, Performance and Reform of State-owned Enterprises* (Singapore: World Scientific Publishing Company, 2012).
- lxxiv. David Dollar and Shang-Jin Wei, "Das (Wasted) Kapital: Firm Ownership and Investment Efficiency in China" (working paper 13103, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Massachusetts, May 2007), http://www.nber.org/papers/w13103.
- lxxv. Sourafel Girma and Yundan Gong, "Putting People First? Chinese State-Owned Enterprises' Adjustment to Globalization" *International Journal of Industrial Organization* 26, no. 2 (March 2008): 573–585, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167718707000513.
- lxxvi. American Chamber of Commerce in China (AmCham China), "AmCham China 2013 China Business Climate Survey Report," (AmCham China, 2013), 9, http://www.amchamchina.org/download-document/8e4fdecb8aa91d23667737b89d480884cc0fb4c4.pdf.

Ixxvii. .Office of the United States Trade Representative, "United States Statement at the World Trade Organization Trade Policy Review of the People's Republic of China," news release, July 1, 2014; <a href="https://ustr.gov/about-us/policy-offices/press-office/speeches/transcripts/2014/July/US-Statement-WTO-Trade-Policy-Review-Peoples-Republic-of-China">https://ustr.gov/about-us/policy-offices/press-office/speeches/transcripts/2014/July/US-Statement-WTO-Trade-Policy-Review-Peoples-Republic-of-China</a>; Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR), 2016 Report to Congress On China's WTO Compliance, (Washington, D.C.: USTR, January 2017), https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2016-China-Report-to-Congress.pdf.

Ixxviii. Ibid.

Ixxix. The Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR) and the United States Department of Commerce (DOC), Subsidies Enforcement Annual Report to the Congress (Washington, DC: USTR and DOC, February 2016), http://enforcement.trade.gov/esel/reports/seo2016/seo-annual-report-2016.pdf.

lxxx. Ibid.

lxxxi. Ibid.

lxxxii. Panitchpakdi and Clifford, China and the WTO, 225.

lxxxiii. Froman, 2015 National Trade Estimate, 78.

lxxxiv. Barbara Li, "China's New Telecom Catalogue Comes Into Force on March 1, 2016," Norton Rose Fulbright, February 2016, <a href="http://www.nortonrosefulbright.com/knowledge/publications/137503/chinas-new-telecom-catalogue-comes-into-force-on-march-1-2016">http://www.nortonrosefulbright.com/knowledge/publications/137503/chinas-new-telecom-catalogue-comes-into-force-on-march-1-2016</a>; Jacob Parker, "US-China Business Council Comments on the Draft Cybersecurity Law" (The US-China Business Council, August 4, 2016), <a href="https://www.uschina.org/sites/default/files/USCBC%20Comments%20on%20Cybersecurity%20Law\_EN.pdf">https://www.uschina.org/sites/default/files/USCBC%20Comments%20on%20Cybersecurity%20Law\_EN.pdf</a>; "China – Information and Communications Technology."

lxxxv. World Trade Organization Council for Trade in Services, "Computer and Related Services Background Note by the Secretariat S/C/W/45" (Geneva: World Trade Organization, July 14, 1998), https://www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/serv\_e/w45.doc.

lxxxvi. Stephen J. Ezell and Robert D. Atkinson, "False Promises: The Yawning Gap between China's WTO Commitments and Practices" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, September 2015), http://www2.itif.org/2015-false-promises-china.pdf.

Ixxxvii. United States Trade Representative, "2013 National Trade Estimate China" (Washington, DC: United States Trade Representative, 2014),

<a href="https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2013%20NTE%20China%20Final.pdf">https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2013%20NTE%20China%20Final.pdf</a>; Hogan Lovells, "Third Party Payment Licenses in China - Are They Within the Grasp of Foreign Investors?" (London: Hogan Lovells, June 2014), <a href="https://www.hoganlovells.com/files/Uploads/Documents/14.06">http://www.hoganlovells.com/files/Uploads/Documents/14.06</a> Corporate China Alert - Third Party Payment Licences in China - Are They within The Grasp of Foreign Investors SHALIB01 1093411.pdf.

Ixxxviii. IBM, "Made in IBM Labs: IBM to Build First Cloud Computing Center in China," news release, February 1, 2008, <a href="http://www-03.ibm.com/press/us/en/pressrelease/23426.wss">http://www-03.ibm.com/press/us/en/pressrelease/23426.wss</a>; Rebecca Blumenstein, "Microsoft's Partner Strategy in China," The Wall Street Journal, June 8, 2016, <a href="http://www.wsj.com/articles/microsofts-partner-strategy-in-china-1465421401;">http://www.wsj.com/articles/microsofts-partner-strategy-in-china-1465421401;</a> SAP, "SAP and China Telecom Expand Strategic Partnership to Provide SAP Cloud Portfolio in China," news release, November 20, 2013, <a href="http://news.sap.com/sap-and-china-telecom-expand-strategic-partnership-to-provide-sap-cloud-portfolio-in-china/">http://news.sap.com/sap-and-china-telecom-expand-strategic-partnership-to-provide-sap-cloud-portfolio-in-china/</a>.

Ixxxix. Leigh Ann Ragland et al., "Red Cloud Rising: Cloud Computing in China" (Washington, DC: U.S. Economic and Security Commission, September 5, 2013), <a href="http://origin.www.uscc.gov/sites/default/files/Research/DGI Red%20Cloud%20Rising 2014.pdf">http://origin.www.uscc.gov/sites/default/files/Research/DGI Red%20Cloud%20Rising 2014.pdf</a>; United States Information Technology Office (USITO), "USITO Brief: Ministry of Science and Technology 12th Five Year Plan" (Washington, DC: USITO, August 5, 2011), <a href="http://www.semiconductors.org/clientuploads/directory/DocumentSIA/USITO%20Brief%20Ministry%200f%20Science%20and%20Technology%2012th%20Five%20Year%20Plan.pdf">http://www.semiconductors.org/clientuploads/directory/DocumentSIA/USITO%20Brief%20Ministry%20of%20Science%20and%20Technology%2012th%20Five%20Year%20Plan.pdf</a>.

- xc. Gary Clyde Hufbauer and Cathleen Cimino-Isaacs, "Is China a Market Economy?" *East Asia Forum*, July 28, 2015, <a href="http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2015/07/28/is-china-a-market-economy/">http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2015/07/28/is-china-a-market-economy/</a>.
- xci. Ibid.
- xcii. Ibid.
- xciii. Ibid.
- xciv. Robert Atkinson, Daniel Castro, and Alan McQuinn, "Section 512 Study: Notice and Request for Public Comment" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, March 21, 2016), http://www2.itif.org/2016-section-512-comments.pdf.
- xcv. Regarding competitiveness, see Secretary of Commerce Penny Pritzker, who said, "[C]opyright intensive industries contributed 5.1 million jobs and grew by 46.3 percent between 1990 and 2011, outpacing other IP-intensive industries as well as non-IP intensive ones. This vital contribution is a tribute to the Founders' vision in providing for the protection of creative works." See, Michael O'Leary, "Federal Task Force Offers a Vision of a Digital Future that Encourages Creativity and Copyright Protection" MPAA, 2013, http://www.mpaa.org/federal-task-force-offers-a-visionof-a-digital-future-that-encourages-creativity-and-copyright-protection/.
- xcvi. Hilary Ojeda, "Peru: Digital Music Sales Almost Doubled in 2014," *Living in Peru*, April 21, 2015, http://www.livinginperu.com/peru-digital-music-sales-almost-doubled-in-2014-105958/.
- xcvii. International Intellectual Property Alliance, "Colombia: 2017 Special 301 Report on Copyright Protection and Enforcement" (submission to the United States Trade Representative, February 9, 2017), http://www.iipawebsite.com/rbc/2017/2017SPEC301COLOMBIA.PDF.
- xcviii. Nigel Cory, "A Case for Trade Enforcement: Colombia and Intellectual Property," *Intellectual Property Watch*, 1 February, 2017, https://www.ip-watch.org/2017/02/01/case-trade-enforcement-colombia-intellectual-property/.
- xcix. United States Trade Representative (USTR), Chapter 15: Intellectual Property Rights, U.S.-Dominican Republic-Central America FTA (Washington DC: USTR), https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/agreements/cafta/asset\_upload\_file934\_3935.pdf.
- c. USTR, Chapter 15: Intellectual Property Rights, U.S.-Dominican Republic-Central America FTA.
- ci. Ibid.
- cii. Ibid.
- ciii. United States Trade Representative (USTR), *U.S.-Panama Trade Promotion Agreement* (Washington DC: USTR), https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/agreements/fta/panama/asset\_upload\_file131\_10350.pdf
- civ. Ojeda, Peru: Digital Music Sales Almost Doubled in 2014.
- cv. International Intellectual Property Alliance, "Peru: 2017 Special 301 Report on Copyright Protection and Enforcement" (submission to the United States Trade Representative, February 9, 2017), http://www.iipawebsite.com/rbc/2017/2017SPEC301PERU.PDF.
- cvi. Robert Portman, "Letter to Peruvian Minister Ferrero regarding Chapter Sixteen (Intellectual Property Rights) of the U.S.-Peru Trade Promotion Agreement" (Washington DC: United States Trade Representative, April 12, 2006), https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/agreements/fta/peru/asset\_upload\_file437\_9548.pdf
- cvii. Center for Internet and Society, "World Intermediary Liability Map: Peru," website accessed July 26, 2017, https://cyberlaw.stanford.edu/page/wilmap-peru.
- cviii. Ibid.
- cix. James Fatheree, "The U.S-Korea Free Trade Agreement at Three," U.S. Chamber of Commerce website, accessed July 26, 2017, https://www.uschamber.com/above-the-fold/the-us-korea-free-trade-agreement-three.

- cx. United States Trade Representative, "KORUS: Chapter Fifteen: Electronic Commerce" (Washington DC: United States Trade Representative),
   https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/agreements/fta/korus/asset\_upload\_file816\_12714.pdf.
- cxi. Ibid
- cxii. Anupam Chandler and Uyen P. Le, "Breaking the Web: Data Localization vs. the Global Internet" *Emory Law Journal* (April 2014), 40, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2407858.
- cxiii. Korea.net, "Revision to Regulation on Financial Institutions' Outsourcing of Data Processing Business & IT Facilities," news release, June 9, 2015, http://www.korea.net/Government/Briefing-Room/Press-Releases/view?articleId=307.2
- cxiv. USTR, The 2017 National Trade Estimate report.
- cxv. Act on the Establishment, Management, etc. of Spatial Data (Korea: Gov. Body: Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport, June 3, 2014), http://elaw.klri.re.kr/eng\_service/lawView.do?hseq=32771&lang=ENG.
- cxvi. USTR, The 2017 National Trade Estimate report.
- cxvii. US-ASEAN Business Council and Informational Technology Industry Council (joint letter to Vietnamese Minister Son, Minister of Information and Communication, January 6, 2016), <a href="http://cloud.chambermaster.com/userfiles/UserFiles/chambers/9078/File/ICT/2015/VietnamOTTCircular-USABC-ITILetterFINAL.pdf">http://cloud.chambermaster.com/userfiles/UserFiles/chambers/9078/File/ICT/2015/VietnamOTTCircular-USABC-ITILetterFINAL.pdf</a>.
- cxviii. "Over the Top (OTT) Services Market is Expected to Reach US\$3.5 bn by 2025: Rising Demand for Online and Cloud Services to Make OTT Services Indispensable, Says TMR," news release, March 17, 2017, http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/over-the-top-ott-services-market-is-expected-to-reach-us35-bn-by-2025-rising-demand-for-online-and-cloud-services-to-make-ott-services-indispensable-says-tmr-616421734.html.
- cxix. United States Trade Representative, "2015 Section 1377 Review on Compliance with telecommunications Trade Agreements" (Washington DC: United States Trade Representative, 2015), https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2015-Section-1377-Report\_FINAL.pdf.
- cxx. Ibid.
- cxxi. Van Oanh, "OTT Users Likely to Be Forced to Pay Fee," The Saigon Times Daily, October 25, 2016, https://www.vietnambreakingnews.com/2016/10/ott-users-likely-to-be-forced-to-pay-fee/.